IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA COURT
OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
MASTER – IN – EQUITY

MAY 18 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE HONORABLE MIKELL R. SCARBOROUGH

CASE NO: 2025-002345

Robert Matthews, Jr.

Respondent

-vs-

Tiffany R. Matthews

Appellant

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Paul W. Bradley
SC Bar ID#76099
1156 Bowman Road, Suite 200
Mt. Pleasant, SC 29464
Telephone: (843) 571-4611
Bradley.PW@gmail.com

s/Paul E. Tinkler
SC Bar ID#5580
PO Box 31813
Charleston, SC 29417-1813
Telephone: (843) 853-5203
paultinkler@tinklerlaw.com

QUESTION PRESENTED

DID THE MASTER-IN-EQUITY ERR IN DECLINING TO EXERCISE JURISDICTION TO INTERPRET AND ENFORCE THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT ENTERED ON THE RECORD ON FEBRUARY 3, 2022?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE¹

The parties divorced on April 29, 2011. The divorce decree incorporated an agreement on custody of the two children and child support. The agreement did not provide for alimony or divide the marital property. In 2016, about five years after the divorce, the parties purchased a home in Mt. Pleasant next door to the marital home, where Respondent had continued to reside. Appellant moved in to the newly purchased non-marital home. The parties shared title and obligation on the mortgage. On December 26, 2018, the parties entered a contract formalizing their agreement regarding the non-marital property. Plaintiff's Exhibit #20 (R.p. 435). On May 16, 2019, Respondent filed suit in the Court of Common Pleas to void the 2018 contract, alleging there was no mutual consideration. On May 17, 2019, Respondent filed a "modification case" in the family court. The common pleas case was referred to the Charleston County Master-in-Equity. The parties settled the case at the trial before the Master on February 3, 2022. Counsel orally recounted their agreement on the record. The parties agreed the family court case would be dismissed with prejudice. The Master retained jurisdiction to resolve any disputes about the settlement agreement. The Master issued a Form 4 order dismissing the case. The 2019 family court case was dismissed on February 22, 2022.

¹ In this brief, citations to the record listed as "(R.p.____)" are to the record in case number 2025-000643 previously filed. Additional material resulting from this appeal from the Master-in-Equity will refer to the Master's Record as "(MR. p. ____)". Appellant will move that these appeals be consolidated.

The following month, on March 22, 2022, Respondent filed a petition for a Rule to Show Cause in the family court alleging a willful violation of the parties' 2011 divorce decree and seeking reimbursement for college expenses for the parties' son, a finding of contempt and attorney's fees and costs. Appellant filed an amended return to the rule to show cause on January 18, 2023, alleging that the issue of college expenses had been settled as part of the agreement put on the record with the Master-in-Equity and further alleging equitable estoppel. After a hearing on January 18, 2023, the Honorable Holly Wall dismissed the Rule to Show Cause with leave to refile. Respondent refiled the Rule to Show Cause on January 18, 2023. The case was scheduled and continued several times in 2023 and 2024. The case was scheduled to be heard on July 23, 2024. Appellant's counsel moved before the beginning of the hearing to be relieved as counsel. That motion was granted, and the case was continued.

The Honorable Spiros Ferderigos presided over the contempt hearing on January 6, 2025. Appellant appeared *pro se*. The judge issued a ruling from the bench. On January 21, 2025, the judge filed an order finding Appellant in willful contempt. The order directed her to pay \$34,863.10 for her pro-rata share of college expenses and \$66,335.59 for attorney's fees and costs totaling \$101,198.69. The order directs Appellant to pay \$1500 per month on the first of each month directly to Respondent's counsel. The order imposed a sentence of 120 days in jail, but it allowed Appellant to be released upon the payment of \$20,000 to Respondent's counsel. After four nights in detention, she was released.

Appellant filed Rule 59 and Rule 60 motions on February 6, 2025. Counsel asked that the judge defer a ruling on the motions until after delivery and review of the transcript so that her counsel, who had been engaged only after the hearing, could properly address the issues. The judge filed an order denying the Rule 59 and 60 motions on March 5, 2025, before the delivery of the transcript on March 28, 2025. Appellant filed Notice of Intent to Appeal on April 2, 2025.

On May 1, 2025, Appellant filed a motion to enforce the settlement agreement reached before the Master-in-Equity on February 3, 2022. The Master conducted a hearing on September 3, 2025. He issued an order declining to enforce the agreement on October 13, 2025. On November 12, 2025, Appellant served Notice of Intent to Appeal.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The legal issue of jurisdiction or authority of the Master-in-Equity is to be reviewed without deference to the Master's determination. To the extent the Master relied on factual determinations, such findings should be affirmed if there is any evidence to support them. *Estate of Tenney v. South Carolina DHEC*, 393 S.C. 100, 712 S.E.2d 395 (2011).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The settlement before the Master on February 3, 2022, was not reduced to a formal written agreement and confirmed with a formal written order, though Appellant's counsel offered to submit a formal proposed order. Plaintiff's Exhibit 1 (R.p.387) The Master declined that offer, assuring the parties that the statements on the record *and* his retention of jurisdiction would resolve any "snafus." (R.p. 378)

Now that Appellant has moved for enforcement of the agreement, the Master has made clear that he believed that the settlement entered before him was an end to all litigation between the parties. He found it "understandable" that Appellant believed the same thing. (Order p. 6, MR p. 6). He further opined that Appellant's lawyer also believed that no "reimbursement for anything" included any potential claim for college expenses. (Order p.6, MR p.6). He pointedly noted that neither Respondent nor his lawyer spoke up at the settlement hearing to clarify that the issue of reimbursement for college expenses was being reserved for future litigation. (Order p.4, MR p.4).

ARGUMENT

The family judge, unaware of the Master's understanding of the parties' intent, found that Appellant's obligation to contribute to college expenses survived the settlement effectuated before the Judge Scarborough, on February 3, 2022. However, the family court did not have subject matter jurisdiction to make that determination. The litigation settled in Judge Scarborough's court involved a contract entered into seven years after the divorce. That contract involved a piece of real estate they did not own during their marriage: it was non-marital property. Yet that agreement also provided alimony and child support.

The settlement of the dispute expressly involved dismissal of claims arising in family court. Before the family court could decide which claims, if any, survived and which did not, the Master-in-Equity must have determined of the parties' intent. He specifically reserved jurisdiction to do so in the event of a dispute about the agreement.

The following colloquy occurred at the hearing before Judge Scarborough:

Mr. Futeral: But, let's put it this way: If – not part of the agreement – if there should be a problem, somebody can give me a call. I think we're going to be dealing with very reputable realtors, and we're not concerned about it. **And, obviously, we just want the 125.**

The Court: Sure

Mr. Futeral: If there's a problem, just give me a call.

The Court: Okay.

Ms. Johnston: The other problem – and Mr. Futeral and I talked about this is, if we have a snafu, we would like to be able to come back to your Honor and say, we have a snafu.

The Court: I would take jurisdiction for that. Mr.

Futeral: Please.

Plaintiff's Exhibit #1 p.22. (R.p. 378).

The family court is a court of limited jurisdiction. See *Sims v. Sims*, 290 S.C. 190, 348 S.E.2d 835 (1986). *Sims* involved a contract claim made by a former husband against his former wife. The Supreme Court found that the family court did not have subject matter jurisdiction to

determine the former husband's rights under that alleged contract. In the instant case, Respondent's counsel understood that the family court did not have jurisdiction to preside over the litigation attempting to void the 2018 contract Respondent made with Appellant long after the divorce, even though that contract provided for alimony and child support. He also understood that part of the consideration for the settlement of that dispute before the Master-in-Equity was to give up certain claims over which the family court originally *did* have jurisdiction: he agreed to dismiss "the family court case" with prejudice. Respondent contends he didn't give up all claims he could assert in the family court. Appellant contends otherwise - that the settlement was "global." Only the Master-in-Equity has jurisdiction to determine the terms of and to enforce the settlement agreement placed before him on the record in that post-divorce contract dispute.

In *Brown v. Brown*, 295 S.C. 354, 368 S.E.2d 475, (Ct. App. 1988), the Court of Appeals explained:

A family court lacks subject matter jurisdiction to settle a dispute between spouses involving their respective interests in property, *unless the determination is incident to an action requesting an alteration of their marital status [emphasis added]*.

295 S.C. at 358. Here we have ex-spouses settling a claim about non-marital property. That settlement had nothing to do with an alteration of their marital status. At the time of the settlement, they had been divorced for over ten years. Only the Master-in-Equity has jurisdiction to determine and enforce the terms of that settlement.

In *Bailey v. Bailey*, 330 S.C. 326, 498 S.E.2d 891 (Ct.App.1998) involved a contract entered before the parties married. When the parties divorced, there was no division of marital property in the decree. After the divorce was granted by the family court, Ms. Bailey filed an action in circuit court seeking enforcement of the agreement. The Court of Appeals held that the circuit court had subject matter jurisdiction over the premarital contract, which pertained to the marital home.

There are many South Carolina cases holding that the family court does not have jurisdiction over contract disputes. *Lighty v. S.C. DSS*, 285 S.C. 508, 330 S.E.2d 529 (1985), is one such case. Justice Ness dissented, citing *D.S.S. v. Fingerlin*, 328 S.E.(2^d) 71 (1985). In his dissent Justice Ness contended that the circuit and the family court had *concurrent* jurisdiction of an issue of child support. However, Justice Gregory concurred with the majority, noting: “The instant action is not a pure domestic case; therefore, *Fingerlin* has no application to these facts.” Thus, the circuit court in *Lighty* had jurisdiction of the issue of child support. Similarly, here we are not dealing with a pure domestic relations case. The family court does not have subject matter jurisdiction to determine the terms of the 2022 settlement between the parties before the Master-in-Equity. It dealt with non-marital property and did not involve a change in marital status. As in *Lighty*, the circuit court had jurisdiction over a contract dispute, which was resolved in a settlement agreement and which involved Respondent giving up claims that arose or could have arisen in family court. The parties cannot by agreement confer subject matter jurisdiction on a court that does not have it. Only after the Master-in-Equity has determined the settlement terms may the family court exercise jurisdiction over lingering issues, *if any*, pertaining to the enforcement of the 2011 divorce decree rendered by the family court.

The case of *Baskin v. Walkup*, 445 S.C. 353, 913 S.E.2d 282 (Ct.App. 2025), illustrates this principle. In that case the parties had reached a temporary settlement in the probate court. Contrary to that settlement, Walkup later filed a claim in the circuit court. The probate court found him in contempt for attempting to circumvent the jurisdiction of the court in which a settlement agreement was reached. The Court of Appeals affirmed the finding of contempt.

The instant case was in an unusual procedural posture when Appellant’s motion was presented to the Master. Thus, one can sympathize with the Master’s position. He concluded he could not act because of the holding of *Enoree Baptist Church v. Fletcher*, 287 S.C. 602, 340

S.E.2d 546 (1986): “one Circuit Court does not have the authority to set aside the order of another.” That holding is a sensible one and has been repeatedly applied in South Carolina. However, that holding does not apply here to restrict the Master-in-Equity from enforcing the parties’ settlement agreement that was entered into in his courtroom on February 3, 2022. That agreement was honored by Appellant when she remitted to Respondent \$125,000, a sum which Respondent had agreed he would receive “period” and no “reimbursement for anything.” The Master approved the agreement, expressly retained jurisdiction to enforce it, and entered a Form 4 order dismissing the litigation. That record was before the family court judge as Plaintiff’s Exhibit 1. Appellant, through her pleadings and her testimony, asserted that the issue had been settled before the Master. She further testified that she was shocked when Respondent sued her for “reimbursement” a month later. Despite having the record of the settlement before the Master as Exhibit 1, the family court ignored the Master’s order retaining jurisdiction to interpret and enforce the settlement agreement, which had been entered in the Master’s courtroom. The family court found not only did the issue of reimbursement for college expenses survive the “contract for freedom,” but that also Appellant was in willful contempt of court. Thus, it was the family court that violated the rule of *Fletcher*, by issuing an order usurping the Master-in-Equity’s jurisdiction and effective overruling him.

In this appeal of the Master’s order, Appellant contends that the Master should have exercised the jurisdiction he had expressly retained on the record. As he observed in his order denying the motion, neither Respondent or his counsel mentioned they were reserving the right to move in the family court to seek “reimbursement” and a finding of contempt. The order continues:

This Court was surprised there was another (4th) action filed by the Plaintiff [Respondent] against Defendant [Appellant] **the month following** their announcement and entry of a settlement before this Court. Though the issue of “college support” was never explicitly discussed in this Court, this Court confirmed the parties were done with litigation. The Court congratulated them on entering into a “contract for freedom” and for getting on with

their lives. It is understandable that Defendant believed the same thing. When Ms. Johnston said: "As to the closing itself, Mr. Matthews will get \$125,000 period. There's not going to be a reimbursement for anything," this Court believes Defendant's [Appellant's] counsel thought that as well.

Though the issue Defendant [Appellant] presents is jurisdictional, the heart of the matter is justice. That's why this Court – a court of equity – exists. This Court is bothered by what has transpired here. However, given the procedural posture of this case, the authority of this Court to act is questionable.

(Order p. 6., MR. p. 6).

After this eloquent summary by Judge Scarborough, he denied Appellant's motion to enforce the settlement agreement. Appellant agrees that the authority of the Master to act may be legitimately questioned because the issue is on appeal, but, since, as the Master observed, "the heart of the matter is justice," Appellant asserts [with utmost respect and thanks to the Master for recognizing that the courts *exist* to procure justice] that he erred by not *acting* to end the manifest injustice Appellant has endured for the past six and a half years. Justice trumps all other considerations. As John Rawls put it in A Theory of Justice (1971): "Justice is the first virtue of social institutions, as truth is of systems of thought."

The fact that Judge Scarborough found it "understandable" that Appellant believed, just like he did, that the parties were "done with litigation" demonstrates why, particularly in the absence of a formal written consent order, jurisdiction of the interpretation of that oral agreement made on the record must remain with the judge who presided over it. It demonstrates why we have a rule that one lower court judge cannot overrule another, as the family court judge did here. It demonstrates why it was necessary not only to pronounce that the parties were done with litigation, it was necessary also to exercise the jurisdiction that resided with him to enforce that agreement. Failure to do so was error.

CONCLUSION

Appellant asks that the factual findings in the Master's order that the settlement was to be an end to litigation between the parties be affirmed and that the decision to decline exercising jurisdiction over the enforcement of that agreement be reversed.

Paul W. Bradley
SC Bar ID#76099
1156 Bowman Road, Suite 200
Mt. Pleasant, SC 29464
Telephone:(843) 571-4611
Bradley.PW@gmail.com