RECEIVED

May 12 2026

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

**APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
MASTER-IN-EQUITY**

THE HONORABLE MIKELL R. SCARBOROUGH, MASTER-IN-EQUITY JUDGE

**Appellate Ca. No. 2025-002345
Case No. 2019-CP-10-02606**

Robert Matthews, Jr. Respondent,

v.

Tiffany R. Matthews..... Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Stephan V. Futeral
S.C. Bar ID 66427
534 Johnnie Dodds Blvd. Suite 202
Mount Pleasant, South Carolina 29464
Telephone (843) 284-5500
Facsimile (843) 284-5501
email to: sfuteral@charlestonlaw.net
Attorney for Respondent

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

ARGUMENTS

- I. THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION BECAUSE THE FAMILY COURT HAD EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION TO DETERMINE WHETHER THE PARTIES' SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT PRECLUDED THE RULE TO SHOW CAUSE REGARDING UNPAID FAMILY COURT-ORDERED COLLEGE EXPENSES.

Appellant asserts that because the settlement of the 2019 Modification Action was published in civil court, the civil court should have, in essence, countermanded the family court's order holding Appellant in contempt for failing to pay her *pro rata* share of college expenses pursuant to the 2011 Divorce Decree. Appellant's argument lacks merit because the family court had exclusive jurisdiction to enforce family court orders.

“Subject matter jurisdiction is ‘the power to hear and determine cases of the general class to which the proceedings in question belong.’” Theisen v. Theisen, 394 S.C. 434, 440-41, 716 S.E.2d 271, 274 (2011) (quoting Dove v. Gold Kist, Inc., 314 S.C. 235, 237-38, 442 S.E.2d 598, 600 (1994)). “[J]urisdiction for all domestic matters, whether by decree or by agreement, . . . vest in the family court.” Moseley v. Mosier, 279 S.C. 348, 353, 306 S.E.2d 624, 627 (1983). Moreover, the family court has “exclusive jurisdiction . . . in all cases or proceedings within the county against persons charged with failure to obey an order of the court made pursuant to authority conferred by law.” S.C. Code Ann. § 63-3-530(A)(13).

Here, the family court had exclusive jurisdiction to determine whether the Rule to Show Cause was precluded by the parties’ settlement agreement for three reasons. First, only the family court had jurisdiction to determine whether the 2019 Modification Action, a domestic matter, included claims for college expenses. Second, only the family court had jurisdiction to determine whether the settlement of the 2019 Modification Action, a domestic matter, resolved the issue of unpaid, family court-ordered college expenses, which was also a domestic matter. Third, the family court had exclusive jurisdiction over all domestic matters, including the enforcement of the 2011 Divorce Decree and issues arising from the 2019 Modification Action.

Only the family court had exclusive jurisdiction to determine whether the Rule to Show Cause was precluded by the parties’ settlement agreement, regardless of which court it was published in. Accordingly, this Court should deny the appeal.

- II. THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT’S RULE 43(K) MOTION, WHERE THE FAMILY COURT PREVIOUSLY RULED THAT THE PARTIES’ 2019 SETTLEMENT DID NOT RESOLVE APPELLANT’S OBLIGATION UNDER A FAMILY COURT ORDER TO PAY HER SHARE OF COLLEGE EXPENSES.

Appellant argues that the civil court had jurisdiction and authority to determine whether the agreement placed on the record in the 2019 Civil Lawsuit resolved her obligation to pay her family court-ordered share of college expenses, despite the family court having already issued an order regarding this obligation. This argument lacks merit because the civil court did not have authority to overrule the family court.

“There is a long-standing rule in this State that one judge of the same court cannot overrule another.” Charleston Cnty Dept. of Soc. Serv. v. Father, et al., 317 S.C. 283, 288, 454 S.E.2d 307, 310 (1994) (citing Tisdale v. Amer. Life Ins. Co., 216 S.C. 10, 56 S.E.2d 580 (1950); Dinkins v. Robbins, 203 S.C. 199, 26 S.E.2d 689 (1943)). If a prior ruling addresses a substantive legal issue, another judge should treat it as final. Rice v. Doe, 442 S.C. 160, 898 S.E. 2d 127 (Ct. App. 2024) (citation omitted). See Steele v. Charlotte, Columbia & Augusta R.R. Co., 14 S.C. 324, 329 (1880) (holding that “[t]here is no appeal from one Circuit judge to another.”).

Here, on January 6, 2025, the family court issued an order regarding Appellant’s obligation to contribute to college expenses. The family court held that the 2019 Civil Lawsuit settlement did not encompass Appellant’s obligation under a family court order to pay her share of college expenses. Therefore, the civil court did not err in denying Appellant’s motion because the civil court did not have the authority to overrule the family court’s order determining that Appellant had not settled Respondent’s claim for college expenses. Accordingly, this Court should deny the appeal.

III. THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT’S RULE 43(K) MOTION BECAUSE APPELLANT DELAYED OVER THREE YEARS AFTER THE RESPONDENT INITIATED THE RULE TO SHOW CAUSE IN FAMILY COURT TO FILE HER MOTION IN CIVIL COURT.

This Court should affirm the lower court’s denial of Appellant’s motion under the doctrine of laches because the record fully supports that ground. “The appellate court may affirm any ruling,

order, decision or judgment upon any ground(s) appearing in the Record of Appeal.” Rule 220(c), SCACR.

Appellant’s delay in filing her Rule 43(k) motion was unreasonable, whereas Respondent incurred substantial attorney’s fees and expenses in initiating, preparing, and presenting his Rule to Show Cause action against Appellant, which Appellant sought to undermine collaterally.

If there has been unreasonable delay in asserting a claim, or if, knowing his rights, a party does not seasonably seek to avail himself of the means at hand for their enforcement, but suffers his adversary to incur expense or enter into obligations or otherwise change his position, then equity will ordinarily refuse to enforce those rights Whether [a party] is barred by laches is to be determined in light of the facts of each case, taking into consideration whether the delay has worked injury, prejudice, or disadvantage to the other party.

Arceneaux v. Arrington, 284 S.C. 500, 502 – 503, 327 S.E.2d 357, 358 (Ct. App. 1984) (citations omitted).

Here, Respondent initiated his petition in family court for a Rule to Show Cause against Appellant on March 22, 2022. [Verified Petition for Rule to Show Cause, Matthews vs. Matthews, 2011-DR-10-0924, filed March 22, 2022] Appellant delayed, without justification, for three (3) years, one (1) month, and nine (9) days to file her Rule 43(k) motion.

While Appellant delayed filing her motion without cause, her delay worked to Respondent’s disadvantage. Specifically, Respondent incurred \$66,335.59 in attorney’s fees and costs to pursue the Rule to Show Cause against Appellant. Indeed, in its order, the family court specifically blamed Appellant for the extensive costs incurred by Respondent as follows:

At trial, the testimony revealed [Appellant] was uncooperative in calculating her share of *pro rata* college expenses. Instead of cooperating, the testimony revealed that [Appellant] engaged in extensive discovery and requested that [Respondent] provide thousands of pages of financial records, including tax returns, personal checking statements, personal savings account statements, joint checking statements regarding the parties’ son, joint savings account statements regarding the parties’ son, records of expenses from the son’s college, records regarding scholarships, grants, aid, and more. Ultimately, at trial, [Appellant]

stipulated to [Respondent's] calculation of [Appellant's] *pro rata* share of college expenses. Moreover, [Appellant] named numerous witnesses, none of whom testified at trial, regarding [Appellant's] failed argument that the parties settled this matter in the 2019 Civil Case. Lastly, [Appellant] named the parties' son, who did not testify at trial, to support her position that Petitioner agreed to pay all college expenses. Ultimately, [Appellant's] lack of cooperation, the discovery, and the ensuing depositions of [Appellant's] witnesses added to the litigation's complexity and costs.

[Order Holding Plaintiff in Civil Contempt, Matthews vs. Matthews, 2011-DR-10-0924, filed January 21, 2025, pp. 5 - 6].

Appellant's prolonged and unjustified delay of over three years in filing her Rule 43(k) motion resulted in significant prejudice to Respondent, who was compelled to incur substantial attorney's fees and costs. The family court expressly attributed these expenses to Appellant's lack of cooperation and extensive discovery demands, which unnecessarily complicated the proceedings. Given these circumstances, this Court should uphold the lower court's denial of Appellant's Rule 43(k) motion under the doctrine of laches.

IV. THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION BECAUSE: (1) THE PARTIES HAD A FINAL JUDGMENT IN FAMILY COURT; (2) THE PARTIES ARE IDENTICAL; AND (3) APPELLANT IS RAISING THE SAME MATTERS THAT SHE RAISED IN FAMILY COURT.

This Court should affirm the lower court's denial of Appellant's motion under the doctrine of *res judicata* because the record fully supports that ground. "The appellate court may affirm any ruling, order, decision or judgment upon any ground(s) appearing in the Record of Appeal." Rule 220(c), SCACR. Here, Appellant is attempting to relitigate matters that she raised and that the family court adjudicated.

"*Res judicata* bars subsequent actions by the same parties when the claims arise out of the same transaction or occurrence that was the subject of a prior action between these parties." Nelson v. QHG of S.C., Inc., 354 S.C. 290, 304, 580 S.E.2d 171, __ (Ct. App. 2003) (citations

omitted), *aff'g in part and rev'd in part*, 362 S.C. 421, 608 S.E.2d 855 (2005). The three elements of the *res judicata* are: 1) a final, valid judgment on the merits; 2) identical parties; and 3) the second action must involve matters properly included in the first suit. Latimer v. Farmer, 360 S.C. 375, 602 S.E.2d 32 (2004).

Here, all three elements of *res judicata* exist – (1) there has been a final judgment on the merits wherein the family court held that the 2019 Civil Lawsuit settlement did not preclude Respondent from seeking enforcement of the 2011 Order regarding college expenses; (2) the parties are identical; and (3) Appellant is raising the same matter to this Court that she raised in the family court in her return to Plaintiff's Rule to Show Cause, her return to Plaintiff's Motion in Limine, and at trial.

In her return to Respondent's Rule to Show Cause, Appellant argued, "The issue of college support was litigated as part of the cases of *Matthews v. Matthews*, 2019-DR-10-1723, and *Matthews v. Matthews*, 2019-CP-10-2606." (R.pp.195-198). Again, in Appellant's return to Plaintiff's Motion in Limine, Appellant argued that "[Appellant] contends that the agreement that 'claims on both sides will be dismissed' is unambiguous and that any claim [Respondent] had for college reimbursement was dismissed." (R. pp. 066-194). During the Rule to Show Cause trial, Appellant argued that the 2019 Modification Action and the 2019 Civil Lawsuit encompassed college tuition, but the family court found that neither action included college expenses. [R. for Appellate Case No. 2025-000643 pp. 154-161]. Moreover, the family court determined that the issue of unpaid, family court-ordered college expenses remained unresolved. [R. for Appellate Case No. 2025-000643 p. 158, ll. 14 – 25, p. 159, ll. 5 – 8; Order Holding Plaintiff in Civil Contempt, Matthews vs. Matthews, 2011-DR-10-0924, filed January 21, 2025, p. 4]. Accordingly, this Court should deny this appeal on the ground of *res judicata*.

CONCLUSION

This Court should affirm the lower court for four reasons. First, the family court had exclusive jurisdiction to determine whether the parties' settlement agreement precluded the enforcement of unpaid, family court-ordered college expenses. Second, the lower civil court did not have the authority to overrule the family court's order determining that the parties had not settled the issue of unpaid college expenses. Third, Appellant's delay in filing her Rule 43(k) motion was unreasonable and caused Respondent to incur substantial attorney's fees and costs, and is therefore barred by the doctrine of laches. Fourth, Appellant is attempting to relitigate matters for which there was a final judgment in the family court, which involved identical parties and the same matters in the family court, and is therefore barred by the doctrine of *res judicata*.